FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/18/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/18/2023 4:43 PM

No. \_\_\_\_\_ Court of Appeals No. 84140-8-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent/Plaintiff,

v.

JOHNSON & JOHNSON, et al., Petitioners/Defendants.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Angelo J. Calfo, WSBA #27079
Patricia A. Eakes, WSBA #18888
Harold A. Malkin, WSBA #30986
Damon C. Elder, WSBA #46754
Andrew DeCarlow, WSBA #54471
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP
1301 Second Avenue, Suite 2800
Seattle, WA 98101
Phone: (206) 274-6400
angelo.calfo@morganlewis.com
patty.eakes@morganlewis.com

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners/Defendants Johnson & Johnson, Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and various predecessors and/or affiliated entities ("Janssen") respectfully ask the Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II of this Petition.

#### II. DECISION BELOW

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals Division I's July 31, 2023 Opinion reversing a superior court order holding that the State was not immune from discovery of relevant medical claims data because that data was "de-identified" under federal data-privacy regulations (the "Opinion"). A copy of the Opinion is contained in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-25. The Court of Appeals published the Opinion on September 18, 2023 (Order). A copy of the Order is contained in the Appendix at page A-26.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court should grant review to clarify the standards—applicable to both public and private requests for

health data—for determining that data is "de-identified" and can be disclosed without compromising patient privacy.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This petition presents a question of substantial public interest, on which there is little judicial guidance, in the context of one of the State's most high-profile pieces of litigation.

1. In this litigation, the State seeks to hold one manufacturer of niche prescription opioid medications—Janssen Pharmaceuticals—responsible for the entirety of the opioidabuse epidemic based on a novel reading of nuisance law. Although nuisance is traditionally a property-focused tort, see Animal Legal Defense Fund v. Olympic Game Farm, Inc., 533 P.3d 1170, 1172-73 (Wash. 2023), the State claims that Janssen's marketing of FDA-approved opioid medications caused the opioid-abuse crisis, which the State labels a public nuisance. As relief, the State seeks a cash "abatement" award of \$55 billion from Janssen, on the theory that Janssen is jointly-and-severally liable for the epidemic, no matter its degree of responsibility. The

State also contends that Janssen's marketing violated the Consumer Protection Act (CPA).

To defend itself, Janssen sought discovery of information that both the Special Master and the Honorable J. Michael Diaz (then on the King County Superior Court) deemed "without dispute relevant." CP.943 (quotations omitted). The information is de-identified Medicaid claims data with dates-of-service (day, month, year). Based on analyses of similar data from other states, Janssen expects this data to show that a strikingly low percentage of patients prescribed its medications later developed opioid-use disorder (OUD) or other adverse opioid-related outcomes. If Janssen's medication marketing did not drive adverse outcomes, then a significant portion of the State's public-nuisance and consumer-protection theories of liability collapse. And if Janssen's medications did not cause the harms comprising the opioid-abuse epidemic, then it cannot be held responsible for abating that epidemic, even under the State's novel public nuisance theory, let alone be required to foot the entire bill.

2. The data Janssen seeks is subject to federal regulations, commonly known as Part 2, that prohibit the disclosure of information that "[w]ould identify a patient as having or having had a substance use disorder." 42 C.F.R. § 2.12(a)(1)(i). When health information does not contain "information by which the identity of a patient ... can be determined with reasonable accuracy," the information is considered "de-identified" and Part 2 does not prohibit disclosure. *Id.* § 2.11. Copies of 42 C.F.R. § 2.11 and 42 C.F.R. § 2.12(a)(1)(i) are contained in the Appendix at pages A-27 through A-35.

In discovery, the State produced its Medicaid claims data with the year-of-service, but unliterally redacted the month and date. Janssen filed a motion to compel the State to produce this data with full dates-of-service, which the Special Master overseeing discovery conditionally granted, concluding that the complete data was both discoverable and relevant. CP.42-43. But the Special Master conditioned that grant on Janssen providing

an expert declaration to confirm that the data is de-identified, CP.42; CP.754-55, under the so-called Expert Determination Method, *see* 45 C.F.R. § 164.514(b)(1). A copy of 45 C.F.R. § 164.514(b)(1) is contained in the Appendix at pages A-36 to A-45.

This petition concerns the proper application of that method for de-identifying data. Under the Expert Determination Method, information is de-identified and can be disclosed if an expert satisfies three conditions:

- 1. The expert must have "appropriate knowledge of and experience with generally accepted statistical and scientifical principles and methods for rendering information not individually identifiable."
- 2. Applying those principles, the expert must "determine[] that the risk is very small that the information could be used ... to identify an individual who is a subject of the information."
- 3. The expert must "[d]ocument the methods and results of [his or her] analysis."

Id.

3. To comply with this requirement, Janssen submitted a declaration from an expert statistician, Dr. Laurentius Marais.

CP.935-41. Federal guidance on the Expert Determination Method explains that the risk of re-identification depends on "the degree to which a data set can be 'linked' to a data source that reveals the identity of the corresponding individuals." CP.145-46. Consistent with this guidance, Dr. Marais explained that, because the de-identified Medicaid dataset does not have patient names, it would need to be linked with some other dataset that has patient names to create a re-identification risk. CP.938. And because the State has already produced its Medicaid dataset with (only) the year of service, disclosing the month- and dayof-service would create an additional re-identification risk only if the dates-of-service in the Medicaid dataset could be linked to the dates-of-service in another dataset containing patient names. CP.938.

After considering, among other things, the "demographic information produced to date" in this litigation and "other publicly accessible information," Dr. Marais concluded that the production of Medicaid data with full dates-of-service presents

no additional re-identification risk because adding dates-of-service to the Medicaid dataset would not allow it to be linked with another dataset with patient names. CP.938. Specifically, Dr. Marais explained that "Janssen does not have access to identified versions of any ... complementary data sources"—whether from publicly available information or "data sets produced in this proceeding"—containing patient names that can be linked up to the Medicaid dataset based on the complete dates-of-service. CP.938. Dr. Marais thus satisfied the so-called Expert Determination Method under 45 C.F.R. § 164.514(b)(1), as Judge Diaz found, so federal law does not prohibit disclosing the otherwise de-identified Medicaid dataset with dates-of-service.

Despite nothing in Part 2 providing for a counter-declaration, and despite acknowledging as much, *see* State's Mot. for Discretionary Review 11; *cf.* Appellant's Opening Brief ("Br.") 47, the State hired its own expert, Dr. Latanya Sweeney. Dr. Sweeney hypothesized that the Medicaid dataset could be linked to a dataset containing names, dates-of-death, and certain

demographic information for persons who have died in the State of Washington (the "Death dataset").

Because the Medicaid dataset contains dates-of-service but not names, whereas the Death dataset contains names but not dates-of-service, Dr. Sweeney was forced to manufacture a link between the two datasets to suggest that disclosing dates-ofservice in the Medicaid dataset would lead to patient re-identification. To do so, she made two unreasonable and unsupported assumptions. First, she "assum[ed]" that every decedent in the Death dataset died on the last day they received a Medicaid-covered service, and not, for example, the next day or week or month. Br. 26; cf. CP.1083 (admitting to using service year "as a proxy for year of death" in evaluating data already disclosed by the State); CP.1086; CP.1089-91. Dr. Sweeney was required to make this assumption to bridge the gap between dates-of-service in the Medicaid data and dates-of-death in the Death data—she assumed those dates were the same. But even this was not enough to show a risk of reidentification. Second,

she also had to assume that every decedent in the Death dataset was on Medicaid. If a decedent was not on Medicaid, then a potential match between the two datasets would not accurately reidentify the decedent. Obviously, not everyone who dies is on Medicaid.

In response, Janssen filed a supplemental declaration from Dr. Marais, which explained (among other things) that Dr. Sweeney's analysis of the Death dataset is fundamentally flawed because it requires nonsensical assumptions. See CP.45-47. Specifically, Dr. Marais explained that Dr. Sweeney did not actually identify any unique matches between the two datasets that would make it possible to identify a patient. Rather, she determined how many decedents "within" the Death dataset have unique identifying information combinations. CP.47. But there is nothing to link those unique combinations to the Medicaid dataset. As Dr. Marais explained, Dr. Sweeney's suggestion of a link between the two datasets simply "invites the Court to infer with no actual demonstrated empirical basis—that the complete

dates of death for all decedents could ... be related to the complete last service dates in the corresponding decedents' Medicaid claims data." CP.47. For that reason, Dr. Sweeney's hypothetical re-identification of "Medicaid patients by matching them to the" Death dataset "in fact[] demonstrates no actual matching of Medicaid claims data to the WA DOH data." CP.47.

4. The Special Master initially credited Dr. Sweeney's declaration, finding that the risk of re-identification is "substantial" if the de-identified Medicaid data is produced with dates-of-service. CP.276-78. On reconsideration, the Special Master explained that he was denying Janssen's motion to compel for an entirely different reason: he believed that *Dr. Marais* failed to satisfy the Expert Determination Method. CP.524-25.

On April 13, 2022, Judge Diaz sustained Janssen's objection and granted Janssen's motion to compel. CP.942-47. Judge Diaz "agreed with the Special Master's conclusion that the information sought is without dispute 'relevant.'" CP.943. And

he found "that the Defendants' expert's declaration is compliant with ... § 164.514(b)(1)." CP.945.

5. The Court of Appeals reversed. It concluded that the Expert Determination Method was not satisfied, seemingly for two reasons: (i) that Dr. Marais "did not review or consider the consequences of the Death Dataset before opining" that the re-identification risk associated with the data Janssen seeks is very small; and (ii) that he "did not document having applied principles and methods for rendering information not individually identifiable." App'x, p. 19.1 The Court did not review these questions of fact for clear error, nor did it defer to Judge Diaz's exercise of discretion in resolving this dispute. Instead, its opinion suggests that Judge Diaz per se abused his discretion because the Expert Determination Method requires an expert to list out all datasets he or she considered and to perform

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals also purported to identify other defects in the trial court's decisions, but none is germane to the question whether Dr. Marais satisfied the Expert Determination Method. *Infra* at 28-30.

"calculations" or "computations" of the risk of re-identification, Br. 42, although the opinion is fundamentally unclear, *see infra* at 22-25.

The State then asked the Court of Appeals to publish its opinion. As grounds, the State argued that "proper application" of Part 2 "is an issue[] of continuing and substantial public interest." Mot. to Publish 4-5 (quotations omitted). And the State argued that there is an urgent need for judicial clarification of the law because the "lack of [judicial] guidance results in misunderstanding (or out-and-out disregard) of the statutory and regulatory requirements." *Id.* at 2. On September 18, 2023, the Court of Appeals granted the State's Motion to Publish.

This timely petition for review follows. See RAP 13.4(a).

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Requirements For De-identification Under The Expert Determination Method Are An Issue Of Substantial Public Importance.

Both Janssen and the State agree that "the proper application" of Part 2—and in particular, the Expert

Determination Method—"is an issue of continuing and substantial public interest." Mot. to Publish 4 (quotations omitted). Both parties also agree that Washington decisional law "provides [no] guidance on the limits of a trial court's discretion in determining when data is de-identified" under the Expert Determination Method, and that this "lack of guidance results in misunderstanding ... of the statutory and regulatory requirements." *Id.* at 2. But instead of filling this void, the decision below exacerbates it, providing scant guidance on the legal requirements for satisfying the Expert Determination Method. This Court should grant discretionary review to resolve this important question and bring much needed clarity to the law.

1. The proper application of Part 2—including the Expert Determination Method—is a question of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b). The State successfully petitioned the Court of Appeals to publish its opinion largely on this basis. *See* Order (Sept. 18, 2023); Mot. to Publish 4-5. And the only other Washington appellate court to have interpreted

Part 2 likewise held that proper application of the Part 2 requirement at issue there was an "issue[] of continuing and substantial public interest." *Daybreak Youth Servs. v. Clark Cnty. Sheriff's Off.*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 879, 882, 498 P.3d 571 (2021).

Indeed, proper application of the Expert Determination Method is an issue that has far-reaching consequences. Part 2 applies any time a party seeks disclosure of protected health information—including data requests via a subpoena (as here and in other pending opioid litigation in Washington, see Mot. to Publish 3), a warrant (as in Daybreak, 19 Wn. App. 2d 879), or in any other litigation or law enforcement context. The rules governing the Expert Determination Method therefore impact not only patients seeking OUD treatment but also providers, litigants, public health agencies, law enforcement, and virtually any other entity seeking or holding records covered by Part 2.

Method may be implicated *any* time a public or private entity seeks covered information.

That the question presented will affect public entities seeking and holding protected data is reason enough to grant review. That it also applies more broadly—to public and private parties, within and without litigation—confirms the need for this Court's guidance.

This case illustrates the importance of the Expert Determination Method. The State seeks to hold Janssen responsible for the *entirety* of the opioid-abuse epidemic based on a novel reading of public nuisance law. *Supra* at 2-3. The de-identified Medicaid claims data Janssen seeks is critical to its defense—both the Special Master and Judge Diaz agreed the data is "without dispute relevant." CP.943 (quotations omitted). Data showing that patients prescribed Janssen's medications experienced comparatively fewer adverse opioid-related outcomes than patients who took other manufacturers' opioid medications is relevant to causation, an element of the State's

nuisance claim, and to the likelihood of deception that underlies its CPA claim. *See Tiegs v. Watts*, 135 Wn.2d 1, 15, 954 P.2d 877 (1998); WPI 380.03; *State v. TVI, Inc.*, 1 Wn.3d 118, 524 P.3d 622, 635 (Wash. 2023). Any nuisance-abatement remedy, moreover, must account for the negligible role Janssen's medications played in bringing about opioid-related harm. *See City of Benton City v. Adrian*, 50 Wn. App. 330, 340, 748 P.2d 679 (1988); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 840E, cmt. b. If Janssen's medications did not cause the harms comprising the opioid-abuse epidemic, then it cannot be held liable for the epidemic's costs, much less all of them.

2. the Despite overriding importance of the under the Expert Determination requirements Method, Washington decisional law provides no guidance to public and private entities seeking disclosure of de-identified data. As the State has correctly observed, "no other Washington decision," besides the decision below, "provides guidance" on the legal rules for satisfying the Expert Determination Method. Mot. to Publish 2.

lack of guidance has significant real-world consequences. On the one hand, patient privacy is compromised when the Expert Determination Method is not properly satisfied. But on the other hand, important public and private interests are stymied when parties cannot access data to which they are entitled. In this case, for instance, the State is relying on a misinterpretation of the Expert Determination Method to block Janssen from obtaining information that the lower courts agreed is relevant to its defense against the State's \$55 billion claim for "abatement." In other circumstances, law enforcement may be prevented from obtaining critical information misapplication of the Expert Determination Method. Both parties thus agree that "clarity" is "needed." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals' published decision only adds to the confusion. Purporting to apply an abuse-of-discretion standard, the Court held that Judge Diaz erred in concluding that Dr.

Marais satisfied the Expert Determination Method. App'x, pp. 18-19. But apart from resolving issues that are not actually relevant to this dispute, *see infra* at 28-30, the Court did not explain what the Expert Determination Method requires and thus how Judge Diaz abused his discretion in applying it.

For instance, the Court concluded that "Dr. Marais did not document having applied principles and methods for rendering information not individually identifiable." App'x, p. 19. Setting aside for the moment that this appellate factfinding is wrong, infra at 20-21, the Court never explained what kind of documentation the Expert Determination Method requires in the first place. Was Dr. Marais required to perform "calculations" and "computations," as the State argued? See Br. 42. Would something else suffice? The Court's opinion leaves parties without the instruction they need to comply with the Expert Determination Method and trial courts without the guidance they need to enforce its requirements.

Likewise for the Court's holding that Dr. Marais "did not review or consider the consequences of the Death Dataset before opining" that disclosing the health data here would not risk re-identification. App'x, pp. 18-19. Did the Court mean to suggest that the Expert Determination Method requires an expert to recite every publicly- and privately-available source of information that could theoretically be lined up against the data set in question? Or was the defect one of timing? After all, Dr. Marais made clear in his first declaration that he considered the "data sets produced in this proceeding," CP.939, and expressly referenced the Death dataset in his second declaration, CP.46-47.

The missing element in the Court of Appeals' opinion, in other words, is the *reason* Judge Diaz abused his discretion in finding that Dr. Marais's declarations satisfied the Expert Determination Method. Parties seeking to comply with the Expert Determination Method have no more guidance on how to do so after the Court's decision than they did before. The same goes for trial courts who are tasked with applying that method.

### B. The Decision Below Is Wrong.

To the extent it is possible to discern any legal rules from the Court of Appeals' opinion, those legal rules are wrong. In particular, the opinion is likely to be read to require an expert to (i) expressly list every dataset considered and (ii) "document ... calculations" and "computations" used to de-identify individual health information. *See* App'x, p. 19; Br. 42; *supra* at 11-12. Neither requirement finds support in the federal regulations or Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") guidance explaining them.

1. The Court of Appeals first concluded Dr. Marais's declaration was insufficient because it "reveals that he did not review or consider the consequences of the Death Dataset" in forming his opinion that there is no re-identification risk. App'x, p. 19. As an initial matter, that appellate fact-finding is clearly wrong—and impermissible, since appellate courts do not find facts. See Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc., 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009). Dr. Marais's initial declaration

made clear that he considered the "data sets produced in this proceeding," which include the Death dataset. CP.938-40.<sup>2</sup> And his second declaration expressly explained that the Death dataset would not allow for re-identification because it cannot reliably be lined up against the Medicaid dataset based on dates-of-service (because the Death dataset doesn't contain dates-of-service). CP.45-47. So there was no basis for the Court of Appeals to say Dr. Marais did not consider the Death dataset—because he did.

The Court of Appeals must have believed that the Expert Determination Method required Dr. Marais to expressly list out all the data sets he considered in his first declaration and that any data sets referenced in a later declaration could not cure that

<sup>)</sup> 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In his initial declaration, Dr. Marais expressly cited Washington Labor & Industries Workers' Compensation data ("L&I") and the Washington Public Employees Benefits Board Program data ("PEBB"). CP.939. He chose these examples because the State mentioned them in meet-and-confer discussions. But Dr. Marais elsewhere made clear that his analysis was not limited to these datasets. He considered all of the "data sets produced in this proceeding" and "publicly available information." CP.938-40.

supposed error. There is zero support for such a rule, which explains why the Court cited nothing—no regulation, no case, no guidance—in support of its holding. Indeed, the HHS Office for Civil Rights ("OCR") guidance expressly contemplates that the "process [under the Expert Determination Method] may require several iterations" before reaching an acceptable solution, CP.143—which confirms that subsequent analyses performed by the expert can suffice.

2. The Court of Appeals also faulted Dr. Marais because he did not "document having applied principles and methods for rendering information not individually identifiable." App'x, p. 19. The Court did not explain what this means or what Dr. Marais should have done differently to satisfy the Expert Determination Method. In its briefs, the State argued that Dr. Marais was required to employ mathematical "calculations" or "computations," Br. 42, and the Court's decision can be read to endorse this rule. But federal guidance does not impose a

mathematical "risk assessment calculation[]" requirement. Br. 34-35.

Rather, OCR is very clear that the Expert Determination method "does not require a particular process for an expert to use to reach a determination that the risk of identification is very small." CP.143; see also CP.147 ("The de-identification standard does not mandate a particular method for assessing risk."). OCR does "require that the methods and results of the analysis that justify the determination be documented and made available to OCR upon request," CP.143. (emphasis added)—a requirement Dr. Marais satisfied, CP.935-40; CP.45-47, though OCR has never requested his declarations. Nothing in the Rule or the OCR guidance, by contrast, requires an expert's declaration to contain mathematical calculations. (Which explains, again, why the Court of Appeals again cited nothing in support of its decision.)

Although OCR does not require experts to employ any particular methods, it does suggest basic principles for determining that a dataset's re-identification risk is very small.

Dr. Marais's declaration applied the same basic principle as OCR's guidance—namely, that unless there is another dataset with names that can be linked to the Medicaid dataset, there is no risk of re-identification.

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