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

IV. ARGUMENT 

J&J brings its Petition solely under RAP 13.4(b)(4), 

arguing that that there is a question of substantial public interest 

that this Court should resolve. Pet. at 2. J&J is wrong.  

A. J&J’s Petition Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial 
Public Interest Requiring Interim Review 

The State agrees that patient privacy is an issue of 

substantial public importance—that is why it has resisted J&J’s 

efforts to obtain private medical data in violation of the 

requirements of HIPAA and Part 2. But the Court of Appeals’ 

published opinion confirming that Part 2-protected patient 

information must be de-identified before release ensures that 

patient privacy in Washington will be maintained. Thus, there is 
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no need for this Court to weigh in, particularly while this case is 

in an interlocutory posture. Moreover, J&J’s arguments here are 

tethered to the fact-specific nature of its expert’s declaration and 

qualifications, which this Court need not review.  

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded That J&J 
Did Not Satisfy the Expert Determination Method  

1. The Court of Appeals correctly applied HIPAA’s 
clear requirements for the Expert Determination 
Method  

A core premise of J&J’s Petition is its professed confusion 

as to what the Court of Appeals opinion and the Expert 

Determination Method actually require. Pet. at 18. But this 

argument only highlights J&J’s failure to retain an expert who is 

conversant in HIPAA de-identification and data privacy. The 

decision of the Court of Appeals is not unclear. Nor, for that 

matter, are the HIPAA de-identification requirements. Indeed, 

J&J never sought clarity on the requirements from the Court of 

Appeals. See generally Resp. Br. Rather, J&J asked the Court to 

find that Dr. Marais has experience with HIPAA 

de-identification, documented a generally accepted analytical 



 21 

method for de-identifying data, and considered all datasets 

available to J&J, when, as the Court of Appeals noted, these 

arguments lack any support in the record. Compare Resp. Br. 

at 39–47 with CP 936–40; Johnson & Johnson, 536 P.3d at 214. 

J&J itself recognizes that the U.S. Department of Health 

and Human Services outlines suggested methods for using the 

Expert Determination Method, and it does so in both descriptive 

and visual detail.6 Pet. at 20; CP 134–68. This guidance is readily 

available on the HHS website, including to those who simply 

Google “Expert Determination Method.” 

                                           
6 The HHS Guidelines are “meant to provide covered 

entities with a general understanding of the de-identification 
process applied by an expert. [They do] not provide sufficient 
detail in statistical or scientific methods to serve as a substitute 
for working with an expert in de-identification.” CP 138, 143.  
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CP 138, 143. 

The HHS Guidelines provide detailed answers, with 

example scenarios, to questions such as “What are the 

approaches by which an expert assesses the risk that health 

information can be identified?” CP 138, 147–48. The Guidelines 

also outline methodological principles, cite to literature 

containing generally accepted methods (including those invented 

by Dr. Sweeney, the State’s expert), and provide examples 

relating to “Replicability,” “Data [S]ource Availability,” and 

“Distinguishability,” none of which Dr. Marais discussed. 

Compare CP 144–47 with CP 936–40. The Guidelines advise 
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experts “to consider how data sources that are available to a 

recipient of health information (e.g., computer systems that 

contain information about patients) could be utilized for 

identification of an individual,” including to “separate the 

‘features,’ or types of data, into classes of relatively ‘high’ and 

‘low’ risks.” CP 144–45. Dr. Marais made no attempt to discuss 

data features or types, or parse out data into relatively high or 

low risks. CP 936–40. 

Consistent with these clear requirements, the Court of 

Appeals affirmed that an expert must document generally 

accepted principles and methods, and that the superior court did 

not have discretion to circumvent the Expert Determination 

Method. Johnson & Johnson, 536 P.3d at 207, 213–14. As J&J 

acknowledges, the Expert Determination Method explicitly 

requires that an expert with experience with generally accepted 

scientific or statistical de-identification techniques apply this 

experience to determine that the re-identification risk is very 

small, and document the methods and results of this analysis.  
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45 C.F.R. § 164.514(b)(1). The Supreme Court does not need to 

clarify these straightforward requirements, especially by further 

delaying a trial that should have started over 14 months ago. 

J&J’s attempt to manufacture uncertainty where none exists must 

fail. 

2. The Court of Appeals properly ruled that J&J’s 
expert did not perform or document the 
required analysis  

J&J did not retain a qualified expert and the expert it did 

retain did not meet the requirements of 45 C.F.R. 

§ 164.514(b)(1), even with the benefit of the HHS Guidelines. 

Dr. Marais did not properly consider available sources of data, 

perform a generally accepted analysis, or document his methods. 

He did not fulfil the Expert Determination Method and therefore 

J&J cannot justify de-identifying the protected health 

information of millions of patients. This Court’s review of a 

decision properly so holding is unnecessary.  
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C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held the Superior 
Court Abused Its Discretion 

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the superior court 

abused its discretion by making clearly erroneous findings of fact 

to conclude that Dr. Marais satisfied the Expert Determination 

Method. First, the superior court misread the record by 

incorrectly finding that the State and Special Master relied on a 

standard that did not permit “any risk” of re-identification, 

instead of the “very small” risk contemplated by HIPAA. 

Johnson & Johnson, 536 P.3d at 213. As the Court of Appeals 

noted, Dr. Sweeney “acknowledged that HIPAA does not require 

the risk to be zero before health data may be shared,” but her 

analysis demonstrated a risk to 90 percent of the patients in the 

database. Id.; CP 858–59. While J&J asserts that “Dr. Marais’s 

analysis passes muster regardless of whether the Expert 

Determination Method imposes a ‘no risk’ or ‘very small risk’ 

standard,” Pet. at 30, Dr. Marais announced the risk to patients is 

“nil” without “having applied principles and methods for 

rendering information not individually identifiable” or 
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“review[ing] or consider[ing] the consequences of the Death 

Dataset.” Johnson & Johnson, 536 P.3d at 213; CP 938. There is 

no dispute that the Expert Determination Method requires more, 

and an expert opinion meant to keep millions of patients safe 

should not rest upon basic factual errors.  

Second, the superior court “incorrectly attributed to 

Dr. Marais an analysis and formula that he did not make or 

suggest.” Johnson & Johnson, 536 P.3d at 213. While J&J now 

argues this calculation is “irrelevant,” Pet. at 27–28, the superior 

court cited the calculation as the “most probative portion of 

[Dr. Marais’] analysis” and it was the basis for the superior 

court’s conclusion that releasing the day and month fields poses 

an “acceptably [] ‘very small’ risk of identification.” CP 945. Yet 

J&J’s attorneys invented the calculation and proposed it in their 

brief. See CP 455. J&J does not say otherwise in its Petition—

instead, it continues to argue that Dr. Sweeney’s detailed 

calculations and conclusions are somehow incorrect.  

Pet. at 27–28. At the risk of stating the obvious, there is no 
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evidence within the record that J&J’s attorneys are qualified 

experts under the Expert Determination Method—let alone more 

qualified than the country’s leading HIPAA privacy expert. See 

Johnson & Johnson, 536 P.3d at 214 (“[T]he trial court could not 

substitute its opinion or the opinion of the Janssen attorneys for 

that of a qualified expert under 45 C.F.R. § 165.514(b)(1)(i) and 

(ii).”).  

D. There Is No Need for Further Review Before Trial  

1. The protected data fields are neither relevant 
nor necessary for trial 

J&J’s Petition asserts that the superior court and Special 

Master found the protected data fields relevant to this case. 

Pet. at 15. In actuality, the superior court ordered the State to 

produce these records with only a single reference to their 

purported relevance: a citation to the Special Master’s finding 

during the first hearing on J&J’s motion to compel. CP 999 

(citing CP 753). But following that first hearing, the Special 

Master actually found that the sequenced dataset the State 

produced fulfills J&J’s purported need “to determine the extent 
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to which prescriptions for Janssen opioid medications preceded 

diagnoses for OUD.” CP 2, 525 (“Although imperfect, the 

sequencing data should permit Dr. Marais to opine on the 

number of OUD diagnoses preceded by a defendant’s 

prescription, or drug, not more than two calendar years from that 

diagnosis.”). 

Indeed, other than Dr. Marais’ brief reference to an 

undescribed “sensitivity analysis” in a supplemental declaration, 

CP 445–46, the record lacks a complete explanation as to why 

J&J needs identifiable patient information for any claim or 

defense beyond what it already has in the sequenced dataset. See 

CP 1–1026. Whether the Medicaid data could show that some 

patients received J&J-branded opioids only after they developed 

an addiction makes no difference where the State’s claims do not 

require it to prove causation or hinge upon patient use of J&J’s 

branded opioids or upon J&J’s market share. See 

State v. Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc., 199 Wn. App. 506, 518, 

398 P.3d 1271 (2017) (“[U]nder the CPA, the State is not 
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required to prove causation or injury” to any particular 

individual, or collectively); see also Mavroudis v. 

Pittsburgh-Corning Corp., 86 Wn. App. 22, 32, 935 P.2d 684 

(1997) (noting a plaintiff must demonstrate the defendant 

“played a role in causing” a nuisance, not demonstrate causation 

in fact).  

In reviewing J&J’s demand for similar claims data in its 

California opioid litigation, the California Court of Appeals held 

J&J’s argument “that such data is necessary to determine any 

‘causal chain’ (or lack thereof) between Defendants’ conduct and 

any alleged ‘adverse consequences’ as alleged by the People” 

was “not sufficient to justify disclosure in light of the serious 

potential invasion of privacy rights that exists in this case.” 

County of Los Angeles v. Superior Ct., 65 Cal. App. 5th 621, 654, 

280 Cal. Rptr. 3d 85, 113 (Cal. Ct. App. 2021) (cleaned up). J&J 

provides even less support here, where it already has the 

chronologically sequenced claims dataset.  
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While Part 2 prohibits disclosure of SUD patient 

information regardless of the purported relevance, the disclosure 

of any sensitive patient information should require more than 

vague references to relevance. 42 C.F.R. § 2.13(b) 

(“[u]nconditional compliance required” regardless of any 

“justification for a disclosure or use which is not permitted by 

the regulations”); see also Bd. of Registered Nursing v. 

Superior Ct. of Orange Cnty., 59 Cal. App. 5th 1011, 1041, 1046, 

273 Cal. Rptr. 3d 889 (Cal. Ct. App. 2021), review denied 

(Apr. 21, 2021) (“[G]eneralities like the need to ‘measure trends 

and test causal relationships’ . . . are insufficient to justify such a 

vast production of medical information from the nonparties 

here.”). J&J’s flimsy relevance claims do not merit discretionary 

review under RAP 13.4. 

2. Even if the Court of Appeals was wrong, any 
error could be cured through the normal 
appellate process after trial 

While the State sought interim review of a decision that 

risked the privacy rights of millions of Washingtonians, J&J has 
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asserted no comparable need for review here. Courts across the 

country have held that disclosure of protected health information 

could cause “irreparable injury” because “subsequent appellate 

vindication does not . . . totally repair[] the error.” See Maness v. 

Meyers, 419 U.S. 449, 460, 95 S. Ct. 584, 42 L. Ed. 2d 574 

(1975); see also County of Los Angeles, 65 Cal. App. 5th at 636 

(granting interlocutory review of an order requiring production 

of claims data in J&J’s California opioid litigation, “because 

petitioners lack an ‘adequate remedy at law’ to vindicate the 

third-party privacy rights at stake in their petitions and those third 

parties ‘will suffer an irreparable injury’ if a writ is not granted”). 

Here, by contrast, “subsequent appellate vindication” could 

“totally repair[] the [alleged] error” if J&J is correct (despite the 

record demonstrating it is not).  

This case should finally move to trial without further 

interim appellate review. 
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V. CONCLUSION 

For the above reasons, this case presents no issue of 

substantial public interest that warrants review by the Supreme 

Court prior to trial under RAP 13.4(b). The State therefore asks 

that the Court deny the petition for review.